FILED 05-27-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP000375CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES A. CARROLL, JR.

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction entered in Jefferson County Circuit Court,
Case No. 2015-CF-254,
The Honorable William Hue, Presiding, and the Order Denying Postconviction Relief,
The Honorable William V. Gruber, Presiding.

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

KATHLEEN HENRY WI Bar No. 1118591 Dairyland Public Interest Law P.O. Box 352 Madison, WI 53701 608-213-6857 khenry@dairylandpublicinterest law.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Carroll's motion to withdraw his no contest plea because Mr. Carroll received ineffective assistance of counsel and was coerced into making the plea?

The circuit court held Mr. Carroll did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel.

II. Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Carroll's postconviction motion for sentence modification and failing to remove the requirement that Mr. Carroll register as a sex offender for 15 years due to new factors?

The circuit court held it did not err in requiring Mr. Carroll to register as a sex offender for 15 years.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested because it is anticipated that the briefs will adequately address all relevant issues. Publication is not warranted because the issues are controlled by well-settled law. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## A. Procedural Background Leading to Appeal

### 1. Description of the Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of a sentencing following a plea of no contest pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30(2). Mr. Carroll wishes to withdraw his no

contest plea and go to trial; or, in the alternative, to have the requirement that he register as a sex offender removed from his sentence.

2. Procedural Status of the Case Leading up to Appeal and Decision of the Circuit Court

Mr. Carroll pled no contest to offenses charged by the State. Mr. Carroll filed a postconviction motion seeking leave to withdraw his guilty plea and to have the requirement that he register as a sex offender for 15 years be removed from his sentence. The Court denied the postconviction motion on both grounds. Mr. Carroll appeals his judgment of conviction and the denial of his postconviction motion.

#### **B.** Statement of Facts

Detective Leah Meyer of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office was on duty on February 27, 2015, when she was dispatched to the Fort Atkinson Hospital in Fort Atkinson, WI, to participate in the investigation of a possible sexual assault. (85:11, 12; A157, 158.) She was requested to be present by Johnson Creek Officer Dan Holcombe. (85:12; A158.)

She learned that Officer Holcombe had been dispatched to the apartment of a woman named S.W. in the Village of Johnson Creek, for a welfare check. (85:12; A158.) When he arrived, he found S.W. intoxicated, depressed, and possibly suicidal. (85:12; A158.)

He dispatched an ambulance which transported her to Fort Atkinson Healthcare Hospital for a medical evaluation and clearance and detoxification services by Jefferson County Human Services. (85:13; A159.)

While Officer Holcombe was with S.W., she disclosed a sexual assault that had taken place in her

apartment at the hands of an appliance repairman named James Carroll. (85:13; A159.)

Mr. Carroll was standing outside the emergency room, so Officer Holcombe went and spoke with him while Officer Meyer spoke with S.W. (85:13, 14; A159, 160.)

Officer Holcombe learned that Mr. Carroll had been to S.W.'s apartment on the evening prior, February 26<sup>th</sup>, 2015, for an appliance repair of her refrigerator. This was the second such visit that he had done to her apartment for the same appliance problem, which was it wasn't maintaining its coolant. He had gone earlier in the year in January, 2015, for the first repair visit and the problem cropped up again. He was then contacted by the apartment manager and owner George Falk to go back to S.W.'s apartment. (85:14; A160.)

Mr. Carroll acknowledged that he had held her hand and that he had returned some hugs that she gave him, but denied that anything inappropriate had happened between them. (85:14, 15; A160, 161.)

S.W. told Officer Meyer that she was highly intoxicated. When Mr. Carroll had arrived, S.W. had been in a state of depression and grief following the death of her long-term boyfriend. They had been together twenty years and he had died on January 1st, 2015. She had been off of work that entire time. (85:15, 16; A161, 162.)

S.W. stated she was a recovering alcoholic who lapsed. She was self-medicating to get through her depression and grief with alcohol. She had consumed a high volume of alcohol before Mr. Carroll arrived at her apartment that Thursday evening. (85:16; A162.)

S.W. had also taken a Trazodone pill which is prescribed for sleeping, prior to his arrival. The combination of the two made her extremely tired and she lay down on a futon that was folded out to a bed in the living room. She lay down during the repair visit

since it was becoming protracted. She fell asleep or passed out at some point while waiting for Mr. Carroll to finish his repair work. When she next woke, Mr. Carroll was lying behind her on the futon and had his hand up her blouse. She did not have a bra on at the time and he was groping her breasts and kissing her neck. She said that she was still highly disoriented. She told him to stop. Then she passed out again. She had no idea what transpired after she passed out, whether or not he stopped touching her. The next time she awoke it was 4:30 a.m. Friday morning and Mr. Carroll was gone. (85:16; A162.)

Later when she woke up, she was highly upset. She continued to drink heavily that day which led her to the point of a high level of intoxication on Friday evening that resulted in her detoxification placement in Madison. They took a urine sample from her that Friday evening at the hospital and she was a .435 percent BAC. (85:17, 18; A163, 164.)

S.W. said that on the day of the alleged assault, she had started drinking at approximately 9:00 or 10:00 a.m. She finished drinking at approximately 7:00 p.m. that evening while Mr. Carroll was present fixing her refrigerator. She had consumed six large mixed drinks in a glass that she said was twelve ounces in volume. (85:19; A165.)

The SANE nurse took multiple swabbings of S.W.'s body including from around her mouth, her neck, her breasts, and external vaginal area. The clothing she was wearing at the hospital on Friday evening was collected because it was determined that she had never changed clothes from the day before and was wearing the exact same clothes at the time that she was wearing at the time of the assault on Thursday evening, February 26th. (85:20; A166.)

In May of 2015, Officer Meyer received a report indicating there were multiple areas of S.W.'s body where the swabbings took place where there was

there was amylase detected, which is an enzyme that is found in human saliva. That was located on the left side of her neck around her mouth and also her right breast and external vaginal area. There were positive results regarding several areas of her body that were swabbed. They found a mixture of DNA on the left side of S.W.'s neck. They concluded that the STR DNA mixture profile at that location was 2.4 million times more likely to be a combination of the victim's DNA with Mr. Carroll's than the victim's DNA and an unidentified male. They also concluded that the swabbing of both the right breast and the inside and outside of her underwear band contained DNA profiles that were consistent with Mr. Carroll's. (85:20-23; A166-169.)

Officer Meyer testified that S.W. stated she did not consent to physical contact with Mr. Carroll. (85:23; A169.)

On August 7, 2015, Mr. Carroll was charged with one count of second-degree sexual assault in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm), a class C felony; and two counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). class A misdemeanors. (1:1; A107.)

On September 11, 2015, at the Arraignment hearing, Mr. Carroll pled not guilty to all three counts. (86:3; A180.)

Mr. Carroll's trial attorney at the time, Jason Gonzalez, prepared to go to trial, and on August 4, 2016, filed six Motions in Limine (20, 21, 22, 23, 25, 26; A117-126; A131-137); proposed Jury Instructions (24; A127); and filed a Notice of Intent to Use Expert Witness Testimony (19; A110).

At a hearing on October 10 2016, the Court said it would like to set the trial for January 30, 2017, and Mr. Carroll's attorney stated he had to check with the expert witness about availability. (88:3.)

The case was set for trial on January 30, 2017 (91:1; A183), but Mr. Gonzalez withdrew from representing Mr. Carroll that day, due to statements Mr. Carroll made which presented Mr. Gonzalez with a conflict that the Wisconsin State Bar Ethics Hotline told Mr. Gonzalez was not a waivable conflict. (91:5; A187.)

On February 9, 2017, the State Public Defender appointed Jeffrey De La Rosa to represent Mr. Carroll. (38.) At the status hearing held on March 27, 2017, Mr. De La Rosa stated he was waiting for some materials from the prior attorney, Mr. Gonzales. (92:3; A199). The court set the final status conference for June 8, 2017 (92:6; A202), and the trial for June 14 and 15. (92:5; A201.)

The court issued a Scheduling Order on April 13, 2017, requiring the parties to schedule a hearing on pretrial motions to be held before the final status conference. (43:1; A138.) The court stated that brief motions in limine, which would take 15 minutes of court time or less, could be filed at or before the Final Status/Scheduling Conference. (43:1; A138).

On June 8, 2017, Mr. Carroll pled no contest to the one count of the Class A misdemeanors of fourth degree sexual assault and one count of bail jumping, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 940.225(3m) and 946.49(1)(a). (93:11, 12; 47.) The other counts were dismissed but read in. (47:3; A103.)

The Court sentenced Mr. Carroll to probation, sentence withheld, of three years on the sexual assault count to be served concurrently with two years on the bail jumping count. (93:23; 47:1-3; A226; A101-103.)

The Court adopted the Sex Offender Registry for the length of probation plus fifteen years on each count. (93:24; 47:1, 2; A227; A101, 102.)

On the day of his sentencing, Mr. De La Rosa checked a box stating that Mr. Carroll was undecided

about appealing and Mr. Carroll signed the form. (96:7; A257.)

A few days after the June 8, 2017 hearing, Mr. Carroll decided he wanted to appeal his conviction. (96:8; A258.) Mr. Carroll telephoned Mr. De La Rosa's direct line, and his office, on at least six occasions from the Jefferson and Dane County Jails but did not get a response. (96:9; A259.)

Mr. Carroll finally met with Mr. De La Rosa in September, 2017, to tell him he wanted to appeal but Mr. De La Rosa told him it was too late. (96:13; A263.) In December, 2018, to January, 2019, Mr. De La Rosa contacted the Appellate Division of the State Public Defender and learned it was possible to get an extension. (96:14; A264.)

On September 14, 2018, the Department of Corrections revoked Mr. Carroll's probation. (49:5, 6.)

On October 19, 2018, Mr. Carroll was sentenced following the revocation of his probation to nine months in jail on each count, to be served consecutively. (95; 51:1; A231; A104.) Mr. Carroll had 434 days of credit and therefore with credit for good time served, had served two days longer than required. (95:17; A247.)

Mr. Carroll filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief on February 1, 2019. (52.) The Notice was filed out of time and on July 19 and July 24, 2019, a two-day hearing was held on Mr. Carroll's Motion for Extension of Time to File a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (96; 97; A251; A286.)

On November 25, 2019, the Court of Appeals reinstated Mr. Carroll's direct appeal rights allowing him to appeal his 2017 conviction (68:1-3; A139-141.)

On December 6, 2019, Mr. Carroll filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (69.) The undersigned counsel was appointed on April 20, 2020 (82), and filed a Motion to Withdraw his Plea of

No Contest; or, in the Alternative, Motion for Sentence Modification on August 18, 2020 (72; A142). Mr. Carroll sought to withdraw his plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Specifically, he alleged his second trial attorney coerced him into pleading no contest to an offense he did not commit by failing to investigate the case. (72:3; A144.)

In the alternative, Mr. Carroll argued his sentence should be modified and the court should remove the condition of having to register as a sex offender due to the new factor of information that the registry caused him to be homeless for two years at age 63. (72:4; A145.)

The circuit court held a hearing on November 19, 2020, and January 29, 2021. (99; 100; A329; A351.) The Court denied the motion on both grounds. (81; A106.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether counsel was ineffective presents a mixed question of fact and law. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis.2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). We will not reverse a circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* However, we independently review whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial. *Id.* at 128, 449 N.W.2d 845." State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, 132, 358 Wis.2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Carroll's motion to withdraw his no contest plea because Mr. Carroll received ineffective assistance of counsel and was coerced into making the plea.

At the hearing on the motion to withdraw his plea of no contest, Mr. Carroll testified that:

> I did not feel that I had been properly prepared by the attorney, with the attorney, for – for trial. The only substantive meeting we had together was about two or three months – let's see – yeah, two or three months prior. It was in April of that year for about two hours that – that we had gotten together to discuss the case. We didn't have a meeting. We basically mostly argued because he was saying he felt that I was guilty, so I felt like I really wasn't being passionately represented at that point. (100:12, 13; A362, 363.)

So all that time had gone by and then I kind of felt strong-armed basically at the last minute a day before or two days before the last hearing, the hearing before trial was scheduled. And I had also - I found myself feeling hopeless that I had counsel that didn't want to represent me. He had not called a professional witness that was listed as a - a witness, a doctor of psychology, I think, to – that my previous attorney had named as a witness. But he also failed to subpoena that witness, which I've already alleged was his reason for making the accusations against me that he did to put himself in a situation of withdrawing from the case. (100:13; A363.)

Mr. De La Rosa testified that he thought that he met with Mr. Carroll "twice" during the trial preparation period. (100:41; A391.) Mr. De La Rosa never contacted the expert witness Mr. Gonzales had lined up. (100:42; A392.) Mr. De La Rosa testified that, "at that final status, we had – I had started to prepare, but not as much as it would be, say, you know, the third or four days before then, before the trial would have started." (100:43; A393.)

The Court found Mr. Carroll to be not credible and denied the motion to withdraw the plea. (100:60, 62; 81; A410; 412; A106.)

The Court erred in finding Mr. Carroll to be not credible because Mr. Carroll did feel coerced into

pleading no contest. (100:12, 13; A362, 363.) His trial attorney met with him once and told Mr. Carroll he felt he was guilty. (100:12; A362.) His trial attorney did not call his expert witness and saved the trial preparation for the three or four days before trial. (100:43; A393.) With his attorney having failed to contact the expert witness and to prepare Mr. Carroll for trial, Mr. Carroll felt "strong-armed" and "hopeless." (100:13; A363.)

Contrast Mr. De La Rosa's trial preparation with Mr. Gonzales'. Mr. Gonzales had not agreed to a trial date until he had checked with the expert. (88:3.) Mr. De La Rosa never contacted the expert. (100:42; A392.) Mr. Gonzales filed six motions in limine. (20, 21, 22, 23, 25, 26; A117-126, 131-137.) Mr. De La Rosa never attempted to have a hearing on those motions. (43:1; A138.) Mr. De La Rosa was saving the bulk of the trial preparation for the last "three or four days...before the trial would have started." (100:43; A393.)

Mr. Carroll always maintained his innocence of the charges and always wanted to go to trial. But with an attorney who had not prepared Mr. Carroll or his expert, Mr. Carroll felt coerced into pleading no contest to the charges.

#### Wisconsin courts hold that:

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are rooted in the United States and Wisconsin constitutions. Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution (applied to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment) guarantee criminal defendants the right to effective assistance of counsel.

State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶84, 358 Wis.2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44

> To show he has been deprived of that right [to effective assistance of counsel], the defendant must prove (1) that trial counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) that this deficiency prejudiced the defendant.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶¶83, 84, 85, 358 Wis.2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

Whether the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of constitutional fact. An appellate court upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. "Findings of fact include 'the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." An appellate court independently determines whether those historical facts demonstrate that defense counsel's performance met the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance of counsel, benefiting from the analyses of the circuit court and court of appeals.

. . .

The test for deficiency of performance is objective: Under the totality of the circumstances, did trial counsel's performance fall "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance"? "Normally, judicial scrutiny of an attorney's performance will be highly deferential."

State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶¶86, 88, 358 Wis.2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

Trial counsel in this case left the preparation for trial to the last three days before trial. Trial counsel's performance was deficient in that he did not prepare the defendant and the expert long before the last few days before trial.

To prove prejudice, a defendant "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

State v. Dillard, Id., ¶95.

To prove prejudice in this case, Mr. Carroll must show that but for Mr. De La Rosa's unprofessional errors, Mr. Carroll would have gone to trial. "... A defendant must make more than a bare allegation that he 'would have pleaded differently and

gone to trial." *Id.*, ¶99. He may not rely on a "conclusory assertion of prejudice." *Id.*, ¶100.

Mr. Carroll did not rely on conclusory allegations. The record shows a factual account of his first trial attorney's extensive preparation for trial; of Mr. Carroll's desire to go to trial with the expert; and Mr. Carroll's consistent frustration with his second attorney's lack of trial preparation which coerced Mr. Carroll into pleading no contest.

The ineffective assistance of counsel Mr. Carroll received coupled with the prejudice mean that the trial court erred in denying Mr. Carroll's Motion to Withdraw his No Contest Plea.

> II. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Carroll's postconviction motion for sentence modification and failing to remove the requirement that Mr. Carroll register as a sex offender for 15 years due to new factors.

In Mr. Carroll's Motion to Withdraw his Plea of No Contest; or, in the Alternative, Motion for Sentence Modification, Mr. Carroll argued that the new factor which would justify his having the registration requirement removed is that the requirement caused him to be homeless, and to suffer more than an average person would, due to his having Chron's disease which necessitates his taking many medications to control it. (72:4; A145.) His rent is now \$560 per month whereas it had been \$160 per month before this requirement was imposed. (100:40; A393.)

The Court found there was no new factor and that the registry requirement promotes the important factors of recognizing the seriousness of the offense and protecting the public. (100:60, 61; A410, 411.)

Mr. Carroll pled to the crime of fourth degree sexual assault, a Class A misdemeanor in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3m). This is not one of the crimes

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