FILED 07-27-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2021AP000375CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES A. CARROLL, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction entered in Jefferson County Circuit Court, Case No. 2015CF000254, The Honorable William Hue, Presiding, and the Order Denying Postconviction Relief, The Honorable William V. Gruber, Presiding.

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Respectfully submitted,

MONICA J. HALL District Attorney State Bar # 1049039 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither. This case may be resolved by applying well-established legal principles, and the parties' briefs should adequately present the underlying facts.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether a plea was entered knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently is subject to independent review. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 19, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (citation omitted). A reviewing court should uphold the circuit court's findings of evidentiary and historical facts unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id*.

Whether an attorney's actions constitute ineffective assistance is a mixed question of fact and law, and a trial court's determination regarding facts will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127-28, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990) (citations omitted). The determination of whether trial counsel's conduct constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law and is subject independent review. *Id*.

On appeal, a circuit court's sentence determination will only be reviewed for whether its discretion was erroneously exercised. *State v. Klubertanz*, 2006 WI App 71, ¶ 20, 291 Wis. 2d 751, 713 N.W.2d 116 (citing *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FACT FINDING AND CREDIBILITY DETERMINATIONS WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND MR. CARROLL FAILED TO PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING **EVIDENCE** THAT HE ENTERED HIS PLEA BECAUSE HE WAS COERCED BY COUNSEL INTO DOING SO.

Mr. Carroll cannot meet his burden in showing that his plea was involuntary due to what he claims was Attorney De La Rosa's coercive conduct. The trial court found Mr. Carroll's testimony at the Postconviction Motion hearing was not credible, and the remaining facts on the record do not demonstrative Attorney De La Rosa was coercive.

"To withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, a defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in manifest injustice, that is, that there are 'serious questions affecting the fundamental integrity of the plea." *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 36, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44 (quoting *State v. Denk*, 2008 WI 130, ¶ 71, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775). A plea results in a manifest injustice if a defendant does not enter into it knowingly, voluntarily or intelligently. *Dillard*, 2014 WI 123 at ¶ 37.

A guilty plea that has been obtained as a result of coercion is an involuntary plea. See State v. Basley, 2006 WI App 253, ¶ 9, 298 Wis.2d 232, 726 N.W.2d 671. See also State v. Rhodes, 2008 WI App 32, ¶ 14, 307 Wis.2d 350, 746 N.W.2d 599. Coercion cannot be established by showing defense counsel was enthusiastic about the plea offer. State v. Goyette, 2006 WI App 178, ¶ 26, 296 Wis.2d 359, 722 N.W.2d 731 (citation omitted). Further, an attorney's effort to convince a client that a plea is in the client's best interest is not coercion that invalidates a plea. State v. Rock, 92 Wis. 2d 554, 563-64, 285 N.W.2d 739 (1979).

At the Post-conviction Motion hearing, Mr. Carroll testified that Attorney De La Rosa told Mr. Carroll he was guilty, and that pleading was his best option. (R.100 10:19-23, 11:11-16, 15:16-24 43:3-8) (Pet-App.A362, A363, A367, A384). However, Mr. Carroll could not recall whether Attorney De La Rosa told him that he had to plead guilty. (R.100 30:22-24) (Pet-App.A382). Mr. Carroll testified that because Attorney De La Rosa felt Mr. Carroll was guilty, Mr. Carroll felt coerced into pleading. (R.100 10:24-25, 15:14-24. 16:8-11) (Pet-App.A362, A367, A368).

Mr. Carroll stated that he was not feeling well at the time of the plea hearing, which also contributed him feeling coerced into pleading. (R.100 15:25, 16:1-5) (Pet-App.A367, A368). However, Mr. Carroll could not recall telling the court he was not feeling well. (R.100 28:22-25, 29:1-11) (Pet-App.A380, A381).

Mr. Carroll also testified that Attorney De La Rosa told him he would not be able to get new counsel if he did not accept the plea. (R.100 22:9-15) (Pet-App.A374).

Attorney De La Rosa could not recall telling Mr. Carroll that he was guilty or that he should plead. (R.100 40:3-6) (Pet-App.A392). Attorney De La Rosa maintained that the decision to plead guilty or go to trial was Mr. Carroll's choice. (R.100 40:13-15) (Pet-App.A392). Attorney De La Rosa did not feel there had been a breakdown of the attorney/client relationship. (R.100 46:18-22) (Pet-App.A398). Attorney De La Rosa stated that he had no concerns about Mr. Carroll's physical or mental health. (R.100 47:16-22) (Pet-App.A399). Attorney De La Rosa testified that he thought Mr. Carroll knew what he was doing when he entered his plea, and that "ultimately it was his call." (R.100 54:23-25, 55:1-3) (Pet-App.A406, A407).

In its ruling, the court found that Mr. Carroll's testimony was not credible. (R.100 58:9-10) (Pet-App.A410). The court found that Mr. Carroll

equivocated on questions where the court expected straight answers. (R.100 58:10-11) (Pet-App.A410). The court concluded Mr. Carroll's allegations regarding coercion were mostly conclusory. (R.100 59:1-10) (Pet-App.A411). The court also indicated it did not believe Mr. Carroll's claim that Attorney De La Rosa told him he would not be able to get another attorney. (R.100 60:10-19) (Pet-App.A412).

Mr. Carroll has not shown that the court's evidentiary and factual determinations were clearly erroneous. The court made clear that it found Mr. Carroll's testimony was not credible, and that Attorney De La Rosa's testimony was credible. Reviewing courts generally defer to the trial court on questions of credibility because the trial court has the opportunity to observe the demeanor of witnesses and gauge the persuasiveness of their testimony. *See State v. Trecroci*, 2001 WI App 126, ¶2 & n.1, 246 Wis. 2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555 and *Johnson v. Merta*, 95 Wis. 2d 141, 151–52, 289 N.W.2d 813 (1980) (citation omitted). In assessing credibility, a trial court is not required to set forth what aspects of the witness's demeanor it relied on to find the witness's testimony credible or why it found one witness more credible than another. *See State v. Young*, 2009 WI App 22, ¶¶18–19, 316 Wis. 2d 114, 762 N.W.2d 736.

Nothing in Attorney De La Rosa's testimony regarding Attorney De La Rosa's actions during the case qualifies as coercive conduct. The court gave a detailed explanation for why it believed Mr. Carroll was not credible. As such, Mr. Carroll has failed to show, by clear and convincing evidence, that his plea was involuntary.

## II. MR. CARROLL HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT OR THAT HE WOULD HAVE GONE TO TRIAL HAD IT NOT BEEN FOR COUNSEL'S DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE.

Another way a guilty plea results in a manifest injustice is if a defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. *Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶¶ 83-84. To prevail on a Sixth Amendment claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that his attorney's performance was deficient and that this deficiency prejudiced the defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). If a defendant fails to show one prong of the *Strickland* test, the court need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To establish deficient performance, the defendant must identify "acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* at 690. There is a "strong presumption that counsel's performance falls within a wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Id.* at 689. The defendant must overcome the presumption that counsel's actions were the result of "sound trial strategy." *Id.* As such, "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id.* 

The Seventh Circuit has found that the failure to call an expert witness, by itself, is not sufficient to establish counsel's performance was deficient. *Ellison v. Acevedo*, 593 F.3d 625, 633-34 (7th Cir. 2010) Rather, the court stated that, "[T]he defendant must demonstrate that an expert capable of supporting the defense was reasonably available at the time of trial." *Id.* at 634.

To satisfy the prejudice prong, a defendant must show that "but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 139 (citation omitted).

At the Plea and Sentencing hearing, Mr. Carroll indicated he was accepting the sentence partly because the other misdemeanor cases were dismissed and because he knew he could be found guilty for the offenses. (R.93 19:13-15, 20:8-16) (Pet-App.A222, A223). Mr. Carroll expressed his dissatisfaction with the attorney he had prior to Attorney De La Rosa. (R.93 20:23-25, 21:1-12) (Pet-App.A223, A224). Mr. Carroll stated, "If Mr. Gonzalez had better explained, if he even had spent half the time that Mr. De La Rosa has in the last couple weeks with me, had that happened we probably wouldn't be here today." (R.93 20:23-25, 21:1-2) (Pet-App.A223, A224).

At the Post-conviction Motion hearing, Mr. Carroll stated that he and Attorney De La Rosa had only one substantive meeting before the plea and that they argued during most of the meeting. (R.100 10:19-24) (Pet-App.A362). Mr. Carroll was dissatisfied because Attorney De La Rosa failed to contact or subpoena an expert witness his prior attorney consulted. (R.100 11:17-24) (Pet-App.A363). Mr. Carroll stated that the expert was going to testify about how individuals can function normally when they are intoxicated. (R.100 14:11-16) (Pet-App.A366). Mr. Carroll was also upset that Attorney De La Rosa failed to investigate his cell phone, which showed a prior relationship with the victim. (R.100 17:9-15, 22-25, 18:1-9) (Pet-App.A369, A370). Mr. Carroll stated that he and Attorney De La Rosa never discussed a trial strategy, and that he wished they had. (R.100 16:18-24) (Pet-App.A368).

Attorney De La Rosa testified that in preparing the case, he spoke with Mr. Carroll and performed case analysis and document review. (R.100 39:5-9) (Pet-App.A391). Attorney De La Rosa testified that he discussed going to trial with Mr. Carroll but could not recall the specifics of what they discussed. (R.100 40:7-12) (Pet-App.A392) Attorney De La Rosa could not recall why he did not contact an expert witness but provided a lengthy explanation of the process he would use to make that decision. (R.100 48:25, 49:1-25, 50:1-15) (Pet-App.A400-A402). Attorney De La Rosa could not recall whether Mr. Carroll asked Attorney De La Rosa to hire an expert or find his cell phone. (R.100 55:4-25, 56:1-4) (PetApp.A407-408). Attorney De La Rosa testified that if Mr. Carroll told him the cell phone would assist in his defense, Attorney De La Rosa would have investigated it. (R.100 55:13-25, 56:1) (Pet-App.A407-408).

Attorney De La Rosa testified that he proceeded as if the case were going to trial, but he did not prepare as much as he would have closer to the trial date. (R.100 41:19-25, 42:1-6) (Pet-App.A393-394). While Attorney De La Rosa could not recall exactly why Mr. Carroll chose to plead guilty, he did recall that the State's offer was a good offer that allowed Mr. Carroll to avoid a felony conviction. (R.100 41:4-18) (Pet-App.A393).

The Court found Attorney De La Rosa's implication that he would have used an expert if he found it necessary convincing. (R.100 59:16-22) (Pet-App.A411). The court noted Attorney De La Rosa's answer that he would have investigated the cell phone if he thought it would help. (R.100 59:23-25, 60:1-3) (Pet-App.A411-412).

Mr. Carroll has shown neither deficient performance nor prejudice. Mr. Carroll has failed to show with any specificity how the contents of his cell phone would have assisted his defense. Similarly, Mr. Carroll has not shown how an expert witness would have helped his case. Further, the trial court found Attorney De La Rosa's testimony that he would have investigated the cell phone and hired an expert if he felt these actions would help Mr. Carroll's case credible. While Mr. Carroll showed dissatisfaction with his prior attorney's handling of the case at the plea hearing, postconviction, Mr. Carroll indicated Attorney De La Rosa should have handled the case the same as his prior attorney.

Similarly, Mr. Carroll fails to make a sufficient showing that he would have taken his case to trial had Attorney De La Rosa subpoenaed an expert or investigated his cell phone. Mr. Carroll's behavior at the Plea and Sentencing hearing gave no indication of this, and Attorney De La Rosa was not aware Mr. Carroll felt this way. Rather, Mr. Carroll's own

statements at the Plea and Sentencing hearing indicated he was happy with the outcome. Finally, the trial court did not find Mr. Carroll's testimony at the Post-conviction Hearing to be credible. Given these factors, Mr. Carroll's claims, made in hindsight, that he would have taken his case to trial had Attorney De La Rosa's performance not been deficient, are insufficient to establish prejudice.

## III. MR. CARROL'S PLACEMENT ON THE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY IS NOT A NEW FACTOR, AND THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO MODIFY HIS SENTENCE WAS NOT AN ERRONEOUS EXERCISE OF DISCRETION.

On appeal, this court is limited to determining whether the circuit court exercised erroneous discretion when it imposed the sentence. *Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17 (citation omitted). "[T]he term [discretion] contemplates a process of reasoning. This process must depend on facts that are of record or are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). An erroneous exercise of discretion occurs if a court bases its sentence on irrelevant or improper factors. *Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17. A circuit court's sentencing determination carries a strong presumption of reasonability because the circuit court is in the best position to consider the relevant factors and demeanor of the defendant. *Id.* at ¶ 18 (citations omitted).

A court may modify a defendant's sentence on the basis of a new factors and when it concludes its original sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable. *State v. Wuensch*, 69 Wis. 2d 467, 480, 230 N.W.2d 665 (1975) and *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 73, 797 N.W.2d 828 (citation omitted).

The defendant bears the burden to demonstrate by both clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶

36. "A 'new factor' is 'a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because,

even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties."" *State v. Vaughn*, 2012 WI App 129, ¶ 35, 344 Wis. 2d 764, 823 N.W.2d 543 (citing *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975).

Unlike the new factor analysis, in determining whether its sentence was unduly harsh, the sentencing court does not have the authority to reduce its sentence based on events that occurred after sentencing. *Klubertanz*, 2006 WI App 71, ¶ 40. The court shall base its determination of whether it exercised erroneous discretion only on the information it had at the time of sentencing. *Id*.

A court may find an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion "only where the sentence is so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975) (citations omitted). However, "[a] sentence well within the limits of the maximum sentence is not so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock the public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *State v. Daniels*, 117 Wis. 2d 9, 22, 343 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1983) (citing *Ocanas*, 70 Wis. 2d at 183-85).

Mr. Carroll has not shown that a new factor exists. Requiring him to register as a sex offender was discussed extensively at the Plea and Sentencing hearing. (R.93 2:23-25, 13:23-25, 14:23-25, 16:23-25, 22:23-25, 24:4-9) (Pet-App.A205, A216-217, A219, A225, A227). Because this

requirement was known to all parties at the time of the sentence, it cannot be a new factor.

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